1996

# Wesley Clock and Clock v. John F. Green and Larue Green : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION OF THE COURT AND  
NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS**

This is an appeal from an Order and Judgment of the Third District Court granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Defendant's Counter-Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellant's appeal was originally filed in the Utah Supreme Court, however, it was subsequently assigned to the Utah Court of Appeals and assigned appellant's new case number of 960797-CA. This court has jurisdiction to consider the appellant's appeal pursuant to Utah Code Annot. § 78-2-2(3)(j) and Utah App. Proc. R. 3. This court has jurisdiction to review a final decision entered by a district court of the State of Utah.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The issue presented for review is whether a material issue of fact exists as to when the option could be exercised on a written agreement which was silent as to when the option could be granted and contrary affidavits were presented.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review to be applied in this case is contained in Rule 56(c), Utah R. Civ. P. The standard is whether the pleading, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions of file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Since a summary judgment addresses only questions of law, the decision of the trial court is reviewed for correctness and accorded no deference. Hebertson v. Willowcreek Plaza, 895 P.2d 839, 840 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

A timely notice of appeal was filed in this case on October 4, 1996.

### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND APPLICABLE RULES**

This case is governed by Rule 56(c), Utah R. Civ. P.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. Nature of the Case**

This is an appeal from a final order of the Third district Court granting Summary Judgment's to Plaintiff's and Denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

B. Statement of the Facts

1. The parties to this lawsuit's all signed a handwritten document which forms the basis of this case which states as follows:

" I Wesley Clock and Ann Clock agree to pay \$675 per month plus sewer and water. There is a \$350 deposit plus \$1,000 for a lease option to buy. Starting July 29, 1991 pro-rated to Aug. 4, 1991, the selling price to be \$81,500 at 10 ½ per cent interest. When option is picked up, the \$350 plus the \$1,000 will be applied to the down payment of \$5,000 or more. The seller will re-roof and make the carport into a double garage, replace the back door. Other than the things above, the Clocks will take care of any repairs during the option period. There will be a balloon payment due in the balance of the loan August 5, 1996. The rent to be pro-rated from July 29, 1991 to August 4, 1991. Rent to begin on August 5, 1991. August 2 is \$500.00; August 5 on \$700; balance by August 20, 1991. If the Clocks do not buy they will be renters and money will not be refunded.

/s/ Anne Clock, Wesley clock, John F. Green and Larue Green."

2. The contract fails to give a location as to which property was to be sold and what was the option period.

3. The plaintiffs paid a \$300 deposit and \$1,000.00 for the lease option.

4. On April 12, 1996 the Plaintiffs gave a copy of a notice of intent to exercise the option to purchase the property.

5. According to Larue Green and John Green, the parties agreed that the down payment described in the payment was required to be paid within one year from the date the agreement was signed.

6. Defendants never paid the down payment or offered to pay the down payment until approximately April 12, 1996.

7. Plaintiffs did not tender to Defendants a purchase contract at 10½ per cent interest.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

A material issue of fact exists which should be determined at trial and not through a motion for summary judgment.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

##### **WHETHER A MATERIAL ISSUE OF FACT EXISTS AS TO THE TERMS OF THE ALLEGED OPTION CONTRACT**

The parties to this lawsuit's handwritten document which forms the basis of this case states as follows:

" I Wesley Clock and Ann Clock agree to pay \$675 per month plus sewer and water. There is a \$350 deposit plus \$1,000 for a lease option to buy. Starting July 29, 1991 pro-rated to Aug. 4, 1991, the selling price to be \$81,500 at 10 ½ per cent interest. When option is picked up, the \$350 plus the \$1,000 will be applied to the down payment of \$5,000 or more. The seller will re-roof and make the carport into a double garage, replace the back door. Other than the things above, the Clocks will take care of any repairs during the option period.

There will be a balloon payment due in the balance of the loan August 5, 1996. The rent to be pro-rated from July 29, 1991 to August 4, 1991. Rent to begin on August 5, 1991. August 2 is \$500.00; August 5 on \$700; balance by August 20, 1991. If the Clocks do not buy they will be renters and money will not be refunded.

/s/ Anne Clock, Wesley clock, John F. Green and Larue  
Green."

The first determination is whether or not this contract is intended to be an integration. To resolve this question of fact any relevant evidence is admissible. Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663, (Utah 1985).

In looking only at the document, no mention is made as to an address of the residence and real property to which the option would apply. No mention is made as to the period of time for which the option would be available and whether or not the rental money's paid would be applied to the purchase price of the property if the option would be picked up. The writing refers to a down payment of \$5000.00 or more, but fails to state an exact amount and a date as to when that down payment would be required.

It is very clear from this writing that the alleged contract is very incomplete. Its terms are ambiguous and not very clear. Parole evidence is necessary to conclude what piece of property was the subject of the option and for what period of time the option

covered. Defendant's tendered affidavits stating that the parties agreed that the Plaintiff's right to accept the option were limited to a one year time frame. Record at pages 38-41. The Defendant's reject that claim through their affidavits. Record at pages 52-55. The Plaintiff's did not receive a down payment toward the purchase price of the residence of \$5000.00 or more within the claimed option period therefore they contend the option period has expired. When determining whether there is a genuine issue as to any material fact and whether the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law, the Court is required to construe all facts liberally in favor of the party opposing the motion, and will draw all reasonable inferences from the record in favor of the non-moving party. Katzenberger v. State, 735 P.2d 405, 408 (Utah App.1987). Further, because summary judgment presents only questions of law, no deference is given to the trial court's ruling and it is reviewed for correctness. Mumgord v. ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. 848 P.2d 1041, 1043 (Utah Ct App.1993). The Green's affidavits clearly state that the option term was for only one year that the option period had expired in August of 1992. The contract is silent on that point, therefore the contract is not integrated on that issue and the Affidavit's of the Green's are relevant to establish the terms of the agreements. Defendants state specific