1996

Wesley Clock, Anne Clock v. John F. Green, LaRue Green : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND
NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This appeal is from a final judgment entered pursuant to appellees' motion for summary judgment. The final judgment denied appellants' counter-motion for summary judgment. Pursuant to the authority vested in the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, this case was poured-over to the Court of Appeals for disposition. This Court has jurisdiction to adjudicate the appeal pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, §§ 78-2-2(3)(j) and 78-2-2(4) and Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Does the subject lease agreement sufficiently describe the option to purchase without the need for extrinsic evidence?

The appellees adopt the standard of review set forth in appellants' brief.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

Rule 56(c) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

...The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law...

U.C.A., §25-5-3:

Every contract for the leasing for a longer period than one year, or for the sale, of any lands, or any interest in lands, shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom the lease or sale is to be made, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal by John F. Green and Larue Green ("Greens") from a final judgment entered pursuant to a motion for summary judgment by Wesley Clock and Anne Clock

("Clocks"). The Greens made a counter-motion for summary judgment. The lower court, after hearing the arguments of counsel, entered an order and judgment granting the Clocks' motion for summary judgment and denying the Greens' counter-motion for summary judgment. A copy of the order and judgment is attached to appellants' brief as Appendix "B". The order and judgment determined that the Greens must convey property at 1324 East 5485 South, Salt Lake City, Utah to the Clocks upon receipt of the balance of the purchase price of \$76,500.00. It was also ordered that any payments made by the Clocks to the Greens for rent after August 4, 1996 be applied against the balance of the purchase price.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Clocks and Greens entered into a rental arrangement for property at 1324 East 5485 South, Salt Lake City, Utah. The parties understood and agreed that the property to be rented was at the said address. R. 1, 2, 12, 13, 19, & 33.

2. In connection with the rental arrangement, the Clocks insisted that the Greens provide them with an option to purchase the property. R. 19.

3. The Greens prepared a hand written agreement for rent and for an option to purchase:

I Wesley Clock and Anne Clock agree to pay \$675.00 per month plus sewer and water. There is a \$350 deposit plus a \$1,000 for lease option to buy. Starting July 29, 1991 pro-rated to Aug. 4, 1991. The selling price to be \$81,500 at 10 ½ % interest. When option is picked up, the \$350 plus the \$1,000 will be applied to the down payment of \$5,000 or more. The Seller will re-roof and make the carport into a double garage. Replace the back door. Other than the things above, the Clocks will take care of any repairs during this option period. There will be a balloon payment due on the balance of the loan Aug. 5, 1996. The rent to be prorated from July 29, 1991 to Aug. 4, 1991. Rent to begin on Aug. 5, 1991. August 2 is \$500; August 5 is \$700; balance by Aug. 20, 1991. If the Clocks do not buy they will be renters and money will not be refunded. (Attached hereto as Appendix "A") R. 5, 20, & 33.

4. The Clocks paid the \$350.00 deposit and the \$1,000.00 lease option amount to the Greens at the time of the execution of the agreement. The Greens accepted said payments. R. 2 & 20.

5. The Greens did not give a notice of the termination of the option to purchase until after the Clocks gave a notice of an intent to exercise the option on April 12, 1996. (A copy of the notice of intent to exercise the option is attached hereto as Appendix "B") R. 7, 13, 20.

6. The Greens have refused to sell the property at 1324 East 5485 South, Salt Lake City, Utah, to the Clocks for

the option price of \$81,500.00. R. 13, 20, & 21.

7. The Clocks, in connection with this action, tendered \$3,650.00 to the court as the balance of the \$5,000.00 down payment called for in the option. R. 21 & 28.

8. The appellees dispute the appellants' statement of facts in the following respects:

a. While the contract does not specify the address of the property, there has never been a dispute as to the location of the property. R. 1, 2, 12, 13, 19, & 33.

b. The agreement, by its reasonable interpretation, provides an option period to August 5, 1996. R. 5, 20 & 23.

c. While there is a factual dispute on parole statements at the time of the execution of the agreement, the agreement is silent as to the subject of said parole allegations. R. 5, 20 & 23.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The agreement is sufficiently clear on the terms of the option to purchase. Therefore, the parole evidence rule would exclude evidence of additional terms to those in the agreement, including contemporaneous conversations,

statements, or representations offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of the contract.

2. When a lease includes an option to purchase, the term of the option is appropriately interpreted to be the termination date of the lease unless another option period is specified within the lease itself. In keeping with the purpose of the Statute of Frauds under U.C.A. §25-5-3, a court should not impose a condition on an option which is not contained within the writing so long as the option can be interpreted without parole evidence.

3. Any ambiguity in the written agreement should be resolved in favor of the Clocks, since the Greens drafted the agreement.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE AGREEMENT IS SUFFICIENTLY CLEAR TO ESTABLISH THE TERMS OF THE OPTION.

It is incumbent upon an optionor and an optionee to act fairly and in good faith to fulfill their obligation to each other in connection with an option agreement. Nielson v. Droubay, 652 P.2d 1293 (Utah 1983). The Greens are not acting fairly in this case. Our option states that "The selling price to be \$81,500.00 at 10½ % interest... There will be a

balloon payment due on the balance of the loan August 5, 1996." The Greens refuse to allow the Clocks to purchase the property for \$81,500.00 even though the agreement contains no deadline for the exercise of the option. By the language of the agreement, the option price could have been paid at any time prior to August 5, 1996. The Greens, even if they intended a shorter option period, never gave any notice of a termination of the option. Also no option exercise deadline is included within the written agreement. R. 7, 13 & 20.

The appellants, have raised the argument for the first time in this appeal that the agreement does not contain the address of the property. However, this has never been an issue before. The complaint alleged the property address and the defendants' answer admitted the same. R. 1, 2, 12, & 13. The Clocks rented this property and have been living there ever since the date of the agreement. Therefore, this omission from the agreement should not operate to avoid the parole evidence rule regarding the option. "The parole evidence rule as a principal of contract interpretation has a very narrow application. Simply stated, the rule operates in the absence of fraud to exclude contemporaneous conversations, statements, or representations offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of an integrated

contract." Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663 (Utah 1985).

This Court stated the following in Webb v. R.O.A. General, Inc., 804 P.2d 547 (Utah Appellant 1991):

If an agreement is integrated, the parole evidence rule excludes evidence of terms in addition to those in the agreement, thus excluding "'contemporaneous conversations, statements, or representation offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of an integrated contract'" Colonial Leasing Co. v. Larsen Bros. Const., 731 P.2d 483, 486 (Utah 1986) [quoting Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985)]. A nonintegrated contract may exist where the terms are not ambiguous, but the nature of the agreement itself is unclear. Id. "Only when contract terms are complete, clear and unambiguous can they be interpreted by the judge on a motion for summary judgment." Id. at 488.

In our case, the terms regarding the option are both clear and non-ambiguous. The purchase price is set. The date when the purchase price must be finally paid is also set. Our agreement is silent as to the down payment date and the period of the option. The law does not require that those terms be included in an option in order for an agreement to be integrated. In other words, a down payment date and an option period are not necessary terms for the existence of an option. The Webb case confirms this principal by stating that "Courts are not obligated to rewrite contracts entered

into by parties dealing at arm's length, to relieve one party from a bargain later regretted, simply on supposed equitable principles. Hal Taylor Assocs. v. Unionamerica, Inc., 657 P.2d 743, 749 (Utah 1982)." Id. at 551." The Greens now regret the deal because they could apparently sell the property for more than they had promised to sell it to the Clocks for. This does not justify looking beyond the integrated contract terms for excuses to rewrite the agreement.

It is acknowledged that the contract bears little resemblance to one drafted by an attorney. It is not artfully or well written. However, this does not mean that extrinsic evidence should be sought to add to the agreement. The agreement is sufficiently clear to stand on its own with respect to the option.

II.

AS A LEASE OPTION ON REAL PROPERTY,
THE AGREEMENT IS ENFORCEABLE BECAUSE
IT CONTAINS A PURCHASE PRICE AND A DATE
WHEN THE FULL PURCHASE MUST BE PAID.

The agreement in questions specifies a purchase price of \$81,500.00. It also contains the date when the purchase price must be fully paid - August 5, 1996. The Utah Supreme Court has upheld options which contain just such information. In

the case of Hoffman v. Sullivan, 599 P.2d 505, (Utah 1979), the Court stated:

The trial court's finding that there was ambiguity in the option provision because there was "no provision... made as to how and when payments would be made" is unsupportable. The option price was fixed and as to that there was no dispute. In general, such a provision calls for a payment of cash at the time of the exercise of the option, hence, as a matter of law, there was no ambiguity as to how and when payments would be made.

Just recently this court sustained a contract which was more ambiguous than the pertinent provision in the instant contract (Citation omitted) [t]his court affirmed this enforceability of a contract in which the only term fixed was the purchase price.

Our agreement fixes the option price, the date when the full purchase price must be completed, the amount of the option price and the deposit to be applied to the down payment. There need be no deadline date for the making of the down payment nor a termination date on the option earlier than August 5, 1996. The Washington Appellate Court dealt with a question similar to that of this case. In the case of Beaudry v. Harman, 626 P.2d 50 (28 Wash. App. 719) (Wash. App. 1981), an option included within the lease did not have a termination date. The Court ruled that absent a termination date for an option within a lease agreement, the

option will expire upon the termination of the lease. In our case, the agreement has no termination date on the option and no down payment date for the exercise of the option. Therefore, the option should be considered to expire on August 5, 1996. A notice of intent to exercise the option was given on April 12, 1996. The exercise of the option was adequate and timely. The refusal by the Greens to sell the property either by contract or by cash payoff prior to August 5, 1996 was in breach of the agreement they drafted.

The Statute of Frauds at U.C.A. §25-5-3 requires matters involving real property to be set forth in writing. In keeping with the purpose of this statute, matters involving an option to purchase real property should be governed by the written document wherever possible, without resorting to extrinsic evidence. The trial judge appropriately reviewed the agreement and the record in accordance with Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P. It was determined that the option was sufficiently clear to order the sale. The alleged factual dispute regarding an earlier oral termination of the option did not need to be addressed because the written agreement already addressed the necessary terms of an option to purchase real property.

III.

THE LANGUAGE OF THE CONTRACT SHOULD
BE CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF THE CLOCKS.

In 17 Am.Jur.2d Contracts §347, 348, it states: